RECEIVED

JUL 29 2022

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable R. Markley Dennis, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2018-CP-10-02764
Appellate Case No. 2021-001395

Snee Farm Lakes Homeowner's Association, Inc., individually and on behalf of those similarly situated.....Appellant,

v.

The Commission of Public Works for the Town of Mount Pleasant d/b/a Mount Pleasant Waterworks.....Respondent.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Ross A. Appel, Esq., SC Bar No. 79149
Clayton B. McCullough, Esq., SC Bar No. 13722
McCULLOUGH ▪ KHAN ▪ APPEL
2036 eWall Street
Mount Pleasant, SC 29464
(843) 937-0400

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. Whether the Trial Court erred by failing to understand the applicable legal framework in evaluating the lawfulness of municipal utility rates.
2. Whether the Trial Court erred by misapplying the standard of review for a motion for summary judgment.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On June 1, 2018, Appellant Snee Farm Lakes Homeowner's Association, Inc. (Appellant) filed a class action lawsuit against Respondent the Commissioners of Public Works for the Town of Mount Pleasant d/b/a Mount Pleasant Waterworks (Respondent or MPW) seeking declaratory relief and refunds for previously paid excessive and unlawful Basic Facility Charges ("BFCs"). (R. pp. 53-67).

On July 5, 2018, Respondent moved to dismiss. (R. pp. 68-72). On November 30, 2018, the Honorable Jennifer McCoy denied Respondent's motion to dismiss. (R. p. 1).

On January 24, 2019, Appellant moved for class certification. (R. pp. 73-78). The Honorable Bentley Price granted class certification by order dated June 14, 2019. (R. pp. 2-14). Respondent moved to reconsider the order granting class certification (R. pp. 79-83), which Judge Price denied by order dated August 27, 2019. (R. p. 15). Respondent appealed the order granting class certification (R. pp. 98-119). Appellant moved to dismiss the appeal as interlocutory. (R. pp. 120-131), which the Court of Appeals granted on December 5, 2019 (R. pp. 16-17).

The case was designated as complex and assigned to the Honorable Roger Young by order dated April 9, 2020. (R. pp. 18-19). Appellant filed an Amended Complaint on September 1, 2020, which revised the Class definition. (R. pp. 147-158). Appellant subsequently moved to have the revised class definition and the class Notice Plan approved. (R. pp. 173-177). Judge

Young approved the revised class definition and Notice Plan by order dated September 17, 2020.

(R. pp. 20-23). The certified class (the “Class”) is defined as:

All current and former MPW commercial customers who paid excessive BFC in excess of \$100, defined as a customer’s average daily usage from January 1, 2014 (or any later date of service inception) to December 31, 2019 being less than that customer’s assigned REU.

Class Notice was sent to 526 Class members beginning in October 2020.¹ Class members were given the opportunity to request exclusion from the Class (“opt out”), but none chose to do so.

Appellant’s expert estimated, based on the data provided by Respondent, that the excessive BFCs associated with the Class definition and period amounts to \$1,918,471 in excessive Water BFCs and \$3,639,828 in excessive Wastewater BFCs, for a total of \$5,558,299.

Judge Young ordered the parties to mediation, which took place on November 12, 2020 with the Honorable Costa M. Pleicones, former Chief Justice of the Supreme Court of South Carolina. The mediation resulted in an impasse. (R. pp. 619-620).

The case was reassigned to the Honorable R. Markley Dennis on January 6, 2021, and trial was set for the week of May 10, 2021. On March 9, 2021, Respondent moved for summary judgment. (R. pp. 185-192). A hearing was held April 16, 2021. Prior to the hearing, Appellant filed a Memorandum in Opposition along with twenty-six exhibits. (R. pp. 193-618). Respondent filed a Reply along with eight exhibits. (R. pp. 621-710).

¹ Class counsel worked with Epiq Class Action & Claims Solutions, Inc. to effectuate notice. On September 22, 2020, Epiq received one data file from Class counsel, which contained 724 records. Epiq rolled up the data and combined exact name and addresses, which resulted in 526 total Class member records. Of the 724 data records, 526 Class member records had a physical mailing address and were sent notice via direct mail. Decl. of Cameron R. Azari, Esq. on Implementation & Adequacy of Notice Plan (filed February 1, 2021).

Judge Dennis granted summary judgement in favor of Respondent by order dated July 12, 2021. (R. pp. 24-44).

Judge Dennis's order states that "Plaintiff has not met the burden of showing Respondent's BFC rate structure is unreasonable²" because "Plaintiff has presented no allegations regarding *the quality of service* it has received or continues to receive." (R. p. 32). The order goes on to reference Appellant's expert's testimony and interpreted it as suggesting that "simply because the BFC is based on potential future demand or a reservation of capacity rather than actual use does not prove the rate system is unreasonable." (R. p. 35).

Judge Dennis also granted summary judgment to Respondent on three of its affirmative defenses, namely the statute of limitations, voluntary payment doctrine, and failure to mitigate damages. In so doing, it concluded that the water bill "contains the number of REUs assigned to the customer's account as well as the gallons consumed in the particular billing cycle[and t]he back of each bill notes that 'one REU equals 9,200 gallons per month'" and based on this information, Plaintiff should have discovered the inequity at least three years prior to the filing of this lawsuit. In considering the voluntary payment doctrine, the court declined to consider that water is necessary for life and stated "[t]he point is not that the Plaintiff is paying for service it needs, but rather Plaintiff paid without ever asking that its rate be lowered or its REU reduced." It then concluded "Plaintiff has made no allegations of fraud, duress or extortion" and therefore it had no ability to challenge payment it had made. (R. p. 41). Finally, when concluding Appellant

² This conclusion also misstates a plaintiff's burden. On a motion for summary judgment, as the non-moving party Appellant was not required to prove its case, instead it only need present a scintilla of evidence. *Hancock v. Mid-S. Mgmt. Co.*, 381 S.C. 326, 330, 673 S.E.2d 801, 803 (2009) ("[I]n cases applying the preponderance of the evidence burden of proof, the non-moving party is only required to submit a mere scintilla of evidence in order to withstand a motion for summary judgment.").

had failed to mitigate damages, it held Appellant “could have determined that [it] had more REUs assigned to its account when compared with [] actual water usage” and further that Appellant should have at least contacted Respondent to reduce its REU after “receiving the 2018 letter.” (R. p. 38).

On July 21, 2021, Appellant filed a motion to alter or amend, arguing that Judge Dennis had improperly stated the law and failed to adhere to the standard of review. (R. pp. 711-919). Judge Dennis denied the motion without a hearing by order dated November 23, 2021. (R. pp. 45-52).

In the order, Judge Dennis concluded that the way the rates were set were not at issue because “the BFC collected is used to maintain and keep the water and sewer system running.” (R. p. 46). It went on to state that Appellants’ expert “Mantz testified 1) that a water system should charge a BFC based on something other than actual volumetric use – that to do so is the recommended best practice and 2) that a system whereby the BFC is based on a water meter size is reasonable and acceptable.” (R. p. 48). The order similarly rejected the arguments on the affirmative defenses.

Appellant timely filed and served its Notice of Appeal on December 2, 2021.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Appellant and a certified class of similarly situated commercial ratepayers (the “Class”) claim they have been overcharged BFCs by Respondent. This case implicates the following important, yet surprisingly unsettled, question of law: What, if any, legal constraints govern municipal water and sewer ratemaking? This case provides this Court an opportunity to clarify the law on an issue impacting the daily lives (and wallets) of countless South Carolina residents and businesses across the State.

Respondent is a municipal water and sewer utility established pursuant to a Town of Mount Pleasant, South Carolina ordinance and state law. As a municipal utility, it enjoys a monopoly in its service area for providing water and sewer services. Unlike investor-owned utilities, Respondent's rates are not subject to review and regulation by the Public Service Commission. Instead, Respondent's rates are set by elected politicians (the Commissioners) with no independent, third-party review whatsoever.

Appellant is a non-profit homeowners' association that owns, manages, and maintains the common elements articulated in its restrictive covenants.³ (R. pp. 220-294). Appellant and the Class obtain water and wastewater services through Respondent.

Respondent's monthly bills consist of two distinct line items, namely (1) Volumetric Rates and (2) BFCs. (R. pp. 549-550). Volumetric Rates reflect each customer's actual, monthly usage as determined by their meter reading. (R. pp. 303-305). This case has nothing to do with the Volumetric Rates.

Rather, this case deals solely with BFC overcharges. Respondent's Cost Recovery Policy 7.2 defines BFC as follows:

Water and Wastewater Basic Facility Charges will recover an amount equal to or greater than the sum of the annual Renewal and Replacement (R&R) debt service expense, a portion of the capital expenditures for the system, a portion of operation and maintenance costs, and a portion of general administrative costs.

The Commission incurs fixed costs for providing services to its customers including, but not limited to, Renewal and Replacement (R&R) debt service, capital costs, operating and maintenance costs, and general administrative costs.

The BFC is a charge for the reservation of capacity based on the total active REUs assigned to a property. To ensure the purchased capacity remains available, all BFCs must be paid.

³ Snee Farm Lakes has a single water meter. The individual unit owners are neither separately metered nor MPW customers. The HOA is MPW's customer.

(R. pp. 303-304) (emphasis in original). Respondent's expert William Zieburtz explained the purpose of a base charge as follows:

Q. What is a true base charge?

A. A true base charge is a reference to a fixed fee that captures some of the costs of utility operation typically including a portion of administrative costs and often including a portion of capital costs and sometimes other types of costs and charges that amount on a monthly basis regardless of use and including cases where there is no use at all.

Q. So this is essentially the same concept that Mount Pleasant Waterworks has with respect to its BFC, it's just a base charge?

A. Yes.

(R. p. 993, lines 10-22). Utilities use base charges to promote regular and predictable cash flow as part of the rate base.

Respondent calculates a ratepayer's monthly BFCs based on the number of Residential Equivalent Units ("REU") assigned to its account. REU are a unit of measure equal to 300 gallons per day or 9,000 gallons per month. (R. pp. 509-514). According to Appellant's expert Bryan Mantz, Respondent's base charge practices deviate from most utilities who calculate base charges according to meter or pipe size – not pre-service inception use assumptions based on REU. (R. p. 1006, lines 3-10) (observing that Respondent's BFC practices are not discussed in the American Water Association M1 Manual and other industry authorities).

Under Respondent's system, a ratepayer's REU assignment occurs *prior to* the inception of service and any actual use records. The REU assignment derives from complex engineering assumptions, provided to ratepayers by Respondent, aimed at forecasting estimated water and wastewater demand. (R. pp. 358-366). The customer pays Respondent "impact fees" based on the number of REU assigned based on its proposed use. Respondent defines "impact fees" as follows:

Impact fees are charges assessed against new development to recover part of the capital costs of expanding the water and wastewater infrastructure to serve them. Considered as a capital-recovery charge, impact fees allow recovery of the capital costs of developing the new service directly from the customers who will benefit from the service. proportionate share of each customer's infrastructure demands on the system.

(R. pp. 307-308). As Respondent's rate consultant put it, "the impact fees are what a customer pays to 'reserve' their rights to capacity in the system." (R. pp. 432-434).

Once REU are purchased by way of paying impact fees, Respondent recognizes each ratepayer's REU as assets corresponding to purchased capacity in the system. Clay Duffie, Respondent's longtime General Manager, testified at his deposition as follows: "Well, the capacity, . . . is assigned to the property, so it is an asset that is assigned to the property." (R. p. 617, lines 20-22). A commercial customer who changes its use and requires more capacity can pay additional impact fees to increase its capacity reservation. (R. pp. 509-514).

As previously mentioned, Respondent calculates a ratepayer's monthly BFCs based on the number of REU assigned to its account from the impact fee stage. Unfortunately for commercial ratepayers like Appellant and the Class, Respondent does not periodically review and update these REU assignments to ensure BFCs are consistent with actual use data, as opposed to pre-service inception estimates. This practice, called administrative "right-sizing," is a common feature for utilities who calculate their base rates on REU. (R. pp. 446-508). Appellant's expert identified several utilities who periodically right size on their own without placing this responsibility on ratepayers. (R. p. 1005, lines 20-25). Utilities possess the resources and expertise to efficiently right-size accounts system-wide, as this is a straightforward, data-driven analysis.

Rather than handling the right sizing itself, Respondent shifts that burden on to individual ratepayers via obscure Policies 5.3.2 and 5.3.3, which allow ratepayers to request an REU reduction. These policies place a ratepayer between the horns of a dilemma. If a ratepayer elects

to reduce its number of assigned REU, to bring BFCs more in line with actual usage and demand, it must abandon REU previously purchased via impact fees – a capacity asset, according to Respondent. Should a ratepayer subsequently wish to increase the number of REU, it must repay the impact fees it previously purchased and was forced to abandon earlier. (R. pp. 509-514).

The overcharges at issue in this case are caused by the fact that Appellant and the Class use significantly less water and wastewater than their assigned REU and, therefore, pay excessive BFCs. In other words, they are paying BFC based on outdated and inaccurate use assumptions – not actual use records. Respondent, at all times relevant, possessed Appellant’s and the Class’s actual consumption data, but it failed to right-size their accounts and continued to charge BFC based on outdated and inaccurate use assumptions.

Respondent has known about these specific BFC overcharges for over a decade. In 2014, Respondent hired Raftelis Financial Consultants, Inc., one of the nation’s leading utility experts, to determine “updated water and wastewater [REUs] for utility planning and rate making purposes.” (R. pp. 319-320). In the engagement letter, George Raftelis, himself a nationally renowned authority on water and wastewater rate making, explained the basis of this project to Respondent’s Chief Financial Officer Mark Coffin as follows:

MPW has determined that certain commercial customers have been assigned an incorrect number of REUs, which is a[n] equivalent measure of demand used to quantify utility customer loadings and identify future capacity necessary to accommodate new customer demands.

...

These inconsistencies present complexities an[d] potential customer inequities in estimating user charge revenues and defining the current and future levels of service for calculating impact fees.

(R. pp. 319-320) (emphasis added).

The resulting study confirmed Mr. Raftelis' suggestion that Respondent had assigned numerous commercial ratepayers "incorrect number of REUs." Specifically, CDM Smith's analysis revealed that over the past seven years a staggering 40% of all REU assigned to commercial ratepayers went consistently unused. (R. p. 346, lines 5-24; R. p. 347, lines 6-10). Specifically, "approximately 700 commercial customers used less than their allocated REUs in 2013 and approximately 90 customers used more than their allocated REUs in 2013." (R. pp. 323-324). Appellant and the Class find themselves amongst the former group.

Armed with this information, Respondent *only* contacted the latter, smaller number of commercial ratepayers who had been *exceeding* their allocated REU and paying less than their usage should have required (the winners). (R. p. 350; R. p. 352). Respondent reached out to these "undersized" customers, the very same customers identified in the 2014 report, to recommend they purchase additional impact fees to bring their REU count more in line with actual use. (R. p. 618, lines 12-17). During this time, Respondent chose not to inform the larger number of commercial customers like Appellant and the Class that they were paying to cover significantly more of Respondent's fixed costs than their actual use could equitably allow (the losers).

However, in 2014, a commercial customer who was changing its use from a restaurant to a spa discovered that although it had been using only four REU for years, Respondent had been charging it for fifteen REU. (R. p. 353). Understandably upset at this overcharge never being corrected, the customer demanded a refund of the overpayment. (R. p. 353). Respondent *agreed* and refunded the excess BFCs collected over the previous decade. (R. p. 353). Appellant and the Class seek similar treatment and refunds for the excessive BFC they have paid over the years.

Concerned that word might get out, Respondent finally audited the accounts for the purpose of identifying commercial customers using *less than their assigned REU*, concluding "[a] recent

audit of commercial accounts revealed that a portion of customers had more REUs assigned to their account than they were using in their highest quarter of the year.” (R. p. 368); (R. p. 372); (R. p. 421); (R. p. 422).

Respondent’s own internal audits identified several hundred commercial ratepayers, including Appellant, who had been paying excessive BFCs for years.

Once this analysis was completed, Respondent finally notified ratepayers, including the Appellant, who had long been charged excessive BFCs relative to their actual use and demand records. Respondent’s letter to Appellant states, “[o]ur records show that your assigned REUs exceed the gallons you are using. You are currently paying Basic Facility Charges for each REU assigned to your account.” It goes on to state that “[y]our average monthly consumption for your highest quarter is 697,383 gallons,”⁴ which equates to 76 REU – far less than the 148 REU assigned to Appellant’s account since 1982.

The letter then explains the bottom-line impacts to Appellant as follows: “[y]ou are currently paying \$3,418.80 per month in Basic Facility Charges. Lowering your REUs to the average month of your highest quarter would lower your monthly Basic Facility Charges to \$1,755.60 per month.” The letter concludes with the following “guidance,” which reveals the prejudicial dilemma Respondent’s policies impose on its captive ratepayers.

MPW’s Policy 5.3.3 - Impact Fee Management can be found on our website. It explains in detail the management of Impact Fees and REUs.

⁴ Appellant disputes MPW’s “highest quarterly average” approach for ascertaining what constitutes proper REU demand sizing. Per the certified Class definition and Plaintiff’s expert Bryan Mantz’s analysis, the proper analytical approach is “average daily use” during the Class period. (R. pp. 551-610). Moreover, the REU concept pertains to average daily flow – not any “peaking” concept. According to Mr. Mantz, Plaintiff’s average daily usage during the class period correlates to 72 REU as opposed to 76 REU as stated in MPW’s letter. Mr. Mantz’s analysis is consistent with MPW’s approach when it calculates REU at the impact fee stage. (R. pp. 358-366).

If you reduced the number of REUs or if the REUs have lapsed you may adjust active REUs once per year to a number that does not exceed the REUs originally assigned to the property. To add any reduced or lapsed REUs back to the property, impact fees or back BFCs must be paid at MPW's current rate in accordance with Policy 5.3.2 (whichever is less).

(R. pp. 354-357).

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