**RECEIVED**

**Jul 26 2022**

**SC Court of Appeals**

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY  
Court Of Common Pleas

The Honorable R. Markley Dennis, Jr., Circuit Court Judge  
Case No. 2018-CP-10-02764

---

Appellate Case No. 2021-001395

---

Snee Farm Lakes Homeowner's Association, Inc. individually and on behalf of those similarly situated, .....Appellant,

v.

The Commissioners of Public Works for the Town of Mount Pleasant d/b/a Mount Pleasant Waterworks. ....Respondent.

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

---

Gray T. Culbreath, S.C. Bar No. 11907  
Eleanor L. Jones, S.C. Bar No. 104678  
Gallivan, White & Boyd, P.A.

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

Respondent has always agreed that municipalities are "bound by reasonableness" and asserts that it has kept within those bounds in terms of its rate methodology – its elected commissioners have set up a rate structure they think benefits the water users in the Town of Mt. Pleasant. Thus, like the municipality in *Simons*, Respondent should be afforded the opportunity to exercise its judgment regarding its rate structure.

Appellant argues the Court misapplied the standard of review when it considered the merits of the case, due to the fact that *the Court relied on Appellant's own expert*. Mr. Mantz's testimony contradicts Appellant's position and the evidence put forth by Respondent indicates that its ratemaking practices are reasonable under the applicable statutes. Essentially, Appellant's position is a dead end because Mr. Mantz testified 1) that a water system should charge a BFC based on something other than actual volumetric use – that to do so is the recommended best practice and 2) that a system whereby the BFC is based on a water meter size is reasonable and acceptable. (R. p. 1018, line 7-p. 1019, line 4; p. 1029, line 5-p. 1030, line 4; p. 1010, lines 16-19). Appellant offered Mr. Mantz up as an expert and thus is tied to his opinions, which in fact, support Respondent's defense, and warrant the trial Court's granting of summary judgment.

Ignoring the case law and statutory mandates, Appellant argues that it is not enough for

---

<sup>10</sup> When asked if he believed Respondent has collected too much revenue overall, Appellant's expert responded in the negative. *See* (R. p. 1031, lines 7-24).

Respondent's rates to be reasonable, but that instead the BFC charged must "reflect the actual cost borne by the utility to serve these ratepayers and confer an individualized benefit..." Appellate Brief p. 23.<sup>11</sup> However, Appellant cites no law to support this claim because there is none.

For the reasons set forth above, Respondent's rate structure meets South Carolina's reasonableness requirement, thus, the trial court's granting of summary judgment was proper.

**b. Even assuming Respondent's BFC is a user fee, it does not violate the applicable statutes.**

For purposes of the below analysis, Respondent will assume that a BFC charge is a service fee or user fee, and S.C. Code Ann. § 6-1-300(6) and 6-1-330(B) apply.<sup>12</sup> Thus, the BFC fee must be paid "in return for a particular government service or program made available to the payer that benefits the payer in some manner different from the members of the general public not paying the fee." S.C. Code Ann. § 6-1-330(6). Respondent agrees with Appellant that there must be a "nexus between the fees customers are being charged and [the] benefit received in return", but that its rate structure does take into account that relationship by and through Appellant's reservation of a certain level of service established by the REUs assigned to Appellant's property.

To support its allegation that Respondent's BFCs are service or user fees, Appellant

---

<sup>11</sup>Appellant presents various "facts" to support its claim that the BFC rate was not conforming to the service provided to Appellant. None of these "facts" matter in the analysis of whether the BFC rate structure is lawful under the applicable statutes. Each of the facts listed on pp. 23-25 relate to whether the REUs are less than the actual volumetric water use and as a result whether the REU BFC rate system is "fair" or "equitable." Respondent does not deny that there were and are REUs assigned to customer properties over and above the particular customer's current volumetric water use. However, as has been discussed at length, customers have the ability to reduce these REU assignments, but have simply chosen not to. Further, because one water utility system calculates BFC or manages BFC in a way that is different than Respondent, does not make Respondent's system violative of applicable South Carolina statutes.

<sup>12</sup> Respondent does not agree that the BFC is in fact a user fee, but for purposes of the motion for summary judgment, Respondent presented arguments assuming that the BFC is a user fee as Appellant claims.

incorrectly cites to *Burns v. Greenville County Council*, 433 S.C. 583, 861 S.E.2d 31 (2021). *Burns* interprets the service and user fee statutes to require that a service or user fee provide some special benefit to the members of the public paying that fee. 433 S.C. 583, 589 (2021). In *Burns*, the court invalidated road maintenance fees and telecommunication fees because they did not provide the payers with a special benefit. *Id.* Specifically, the roads at issue in *Burns* were used by anyone who might happen to travel that way versus the water rates at issue, which are only charged to customers who gain the ability to use water and sewer services at their particular property at any time 24 hours a day, 7 days a week. Further, the telecommunication charges at issue in *Burns*, as a part of property taxes were not specifically linked with those using the telecommunications services. *Id.* at 590. Again, this is wholly different than the matter at hand regarding the *calculation of rates* charged to water and sewer services customers. The *Burns* facts are distinguishable from the facts in this case whereby the ability to charge the rate at all was called into question rather than the particular rate structure, and for that reason the *Burns* ruling does not impact the trial court's grant of summary judgment. In summation, the BFC charge based on assigned REUs provides Appellant and all Class with a special benefit not available to the general public, including but not limited to the use of the water and sewer system to a certain level for a certain piece of property, which is not available to the general public without the purchase of the same for a particular property.

Importantly, the BFC collected by Respondent is used to maintain and keep the water and sewer system running. There are no allegations that the funds collected should not be collected or that the revenues are being used improperly. The ability to have water flow through a customer's faucets at any time on demand is a real benefit that must be paid for regardless of how much water a customer uses. (Bryan Mantz Dep. 1/13/21, 37-38:8-11, R. pp. 1003, line 8-p. 1004, line 11).

Despite this benefit acknowledged by Appellant's expert, Appellant's claim rests on its position that Respondent should only collect funds from customers based solely on that particular customer's actual volumetric water use. (R. p. 201). Appellant also claims that "a service of user fee...charged to each customer must correlate to the amount necessary to pay the costs associated with their service." Appellant's Initial Brief, p. 18. However, Appellant cites no case law or statute to support this position.

Instead, Appellant cites C.J.S. Waters § 730, "As a general rule, municipality authorized by law to fix the rates to be charged for service from a water system...must fix reasonable rates, or rates reasonably proportionate to the value of the service rendered or bearing some relationship to the present or future cost of providing service." Appellant's Initial Brief p. 19. Respondent's BFC rate structure meets this cited standard. In this case, customers receive a certain assigned REU number for their property based on information provided to Respondent prior to the initiation of water and sewer service. Based on the information provide, Respondent determines the number of REUs assigned and thus the amount of BFC calculated by the rate times the number of REUs assigned for a particular use for a particular property. Thus, the rate has at a minimum "some relationship to the present or future cost of providing services" and is "reasonably proportionate to the value of the service rendered...." C.M.S. Waters § 730.

It would be impossible for Respondent to have a fixed rate that "correlate[s] to the amount necessary to pay the costs associated with [the customer's] services" as Appellant claims. *See* Appellant Initial Brief, p. 18. It is impossible to exactly determine how much each of the fixed costs associated with running a water and sewer system (salaries, debt service, equipment maintenance, etc.) should be charged to each customer based on that customer's exact service, which Appellant equates to actual volumetric use. Appellant's own expert testified when asked

why it was important to have both a fixed charge (in this case, Respondent’s BFC) and a volumetric charge component as a part of a utilities rate structure, “[p]rimarily revenue stability because salaries and benefits, as well as debt service, are all fixed costs that the utility has to pay for regardless of customer usage.” (R. p. 1018, lines 7-16). Rather, there must be some estimation and ability to charge a BFC in an amount that is reasonably proportionate to the value of services rendered. Respondent meets this standard.

The question of whether the funds collected represent a rational nexus between what customers are paying, the definition of a user fee, relative to what they are receiving is answered in the affirmative. To the extent the rates in question are user or service fees, which Respondent denies, Respondent’s BFC meets the requirements of S.C. Statute § 6-1-300(6).<sup>13</sup>

## **II. The Trial Court Did Not Err in its Application of the Standard of Review in Ruling on the Affirmative Defenses**

The trial Court correctly addressed Respondent’s affirmative defenses in accordance with the summary judgment standard. Appellant’s claims were correctly barred, for a variety of reasons, including the applicable statute of limitations, Appellant’s voluntary payment of the funds it claims are damages, and Appellant’s failure to mitigate its damages.

---

<sup>13</sup> Respondent objects to Appellant’s citation of a newspaper article in this case. In fact, it is not clear exactly why Appellant cited to The Post & Courier opinion piece by Tony Bartelme, Glenn Smith, Joseph Cramey and Avery G. Wilks entitled “UNCOVERED: News deserts and weak ethics laws allow corruption to run rampant in SC” dated February 13, 2021. This opinion article regarding public corruption, which does not reference Respondent or water utility rates for that matter, is wholly irrelevant to the legal issues at hand. Oddly, this is not the first time Appellant has tried to insert newspaper articles into this case as some type of authority. The article referenced should not be considered by this Court as it is wholly unrelated to the matter either factually or legally and is not a part of the record on appeal.

**a. The Circuit Court Did Not Err in Dismissing the Complaint on the Grounds That it Was Barred by the Statute of Limitations.**

Appellant states in its own Initial Brief that Appellant, “had long been charged excessive BFCs relative to their actual use and demand records.” (Appellant Initial Brief, p. 13) (emphasis added). The trial court correctly ruled that the statute of limitations bars Appellant’s claims. Appellant’s monthly bills contained the number of REUs assigned to Appellant as well as the gallons consumed in the billing cycle and the back of each bill noted that one REU equaled 9,200 gallons. A cause of action accrues at the time a plaintiff has a legal right to sue on it. *Brown vs. Finger*, 240 S.C. 102, 124 S.E.2d 781 (1962). “Under the discovery rule, ‘the three-year clock starts ticking on the ‘date the injured party either knows or should have known by the exercise of reasonable diligence that a cause of action arises from the wrongful conduct.’” *Kimmer v. Wright*, 396 S.C. 53, 58, 719 S.E.2d 265, 268 (Ct. App. 2011) (citations omitted). The genesis of Appellant’s claim is that MPW assigned excessive REUs to each customer prior to establishing service or at a change in use and that these assignments were incorrect. Appellant claims that because of the alleged incorrect REU assignments, MPW charged Appellant excessive BFC each month. The BFC, based on the REU assignment, is the exact same every month. Therefore, the statute of limitations began to run when Appellant knew or should have known that it had been assigned allegedly excessive REUS; said differently, the statute of limitations began to run at the time the REU assignment was made or at least when the Appellant began receiving its bills, decades ago.

Of note is Appellant’s citation to *State ex re. Wilson v. Ortho-McNeil-Janssen Pharm., Inc.*, 414 S.C. 33, 79, 777 S.E.2d 176, 200 (2015) to support its contention that “[o]ur courts have recognized that in cases such as this involving ongoing violations ‘the statue of limitations begins

to run anew with each violation.” To be clear, this statement is wholly unsupported by the case law Appellant cites. Indeed, the case cited is specifically based on the statute of limitations as it relates to South Carolina’s Unfair Trade Practices Act (SCUPTA) and therefore it is inapplicable to this Court’s evaluation of the Statue of Limitations as it relates to Appellant’s claims.

Additionally, Appellant argues that even though it employs a property management company, that it should not be the management company’s responsibility to determine whether Appellant should apply for a reduction in REUs.<sup>14</sup> Appellant’s *professional property manager* testified she knew that MPW charged a basic facility charge based on the assigned REUs, but she had never attempted to calculate the BFC and compare it to the total water gallon usage listed on the bills. This admittance illustrates Appellant’s lack of regard for the issue. Simply put, it appears Appellant never took the time to calculate its bill versus Appellant’s volumetric usage to determine if Appellant should reduce its REUs. Appellant had all necessary information and professional staff to start asking questions and determine if it should reduce its REUs.

Although, Respondent objects Appellant cited to a settlement between Respondent and a commercial customer settlement agreement whereby Appellant claims the customer “discovered that although it had been using only four REUs, Respondent had been charging it for fifteen REUs.” Appellant’s Initial Brief, p. 12. Introduction of evidence relating to settlement is generally not admissible to prove liability under SCRCF Rule 408. Without waiving its objection, Respondent notes that this description is contrary to the documents Appellant submitted as Exhibit 14 to Commissioner Rick Crosby’s deposition. For instance, MPW (Confidential) – 09511, an

---

<sup>14</sup> Notably, Appellant conveniently neglects to mention its management company admitted that it was aware of another property in Mount Pleasant, Bay Club, which it manages, that reduced its REUs with Respondent. (R. p. 704 (p. 118), lines 10-23).

MPW internal memorandum references the reasoning for the settlement and noted that the customer had previously requested a reduction in their REUs and MPW determined that the prior request went unanswered. Further, MPW (Confidential)-09538, is a letter from the customer to MPW claiming that he had called multiple times over the years complaining about his bill. The fact that this particular customer knew how many REUs he was assigned and that the number was higher than his regular REU usage contradicts Appellant's claims that they did not understand or were not aware of Respondent's billing practices or their water usage compared with the number of REUs assigned – especially when Appellant employed a professional manager.

Appellant also argues that its bills did not provide an explanation as to how Appellant could reduce its assigned REUs. However, again, Appellant had the information at its fingertips to determine that it was being allegedly overcharged for the BFC – its assigned number of REUs and the volume of water used each month. Respondent had policies (cited in Appellant's brief) in place describing how a customer could reduce its REUs. Most importantly though, Appellant admitted that it never made an inquiry as to how it could reduce its assigned REUs. (R. p. 703 (p. 46), lines 13-23). To the extent Appellant had a claim regarding excessive BFC rates, Appellant knew or should have known that it had a claim but failed to initiate the claim within three years from the date of being put on notice.

Even assuming Respondent's rates violated state law, Appellant's claims are barred by the statute of limitations.

**b. The Circuit Court Correctly Held that the Complaint was Barred by the Voluntary Payment Doctrine.**

The trial court correctly held that the voluntary payment doctrine bars Appellant's claims. Under the voluntary payment doctrine an individual cannot recover payments that were voluntarily

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